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DAY 01 – 18 FEBRUARY 2016 

 

  [9.06 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, good morning everyone. 5 

 

 So this is a technical drafting session and in that sense we are able to 

dispense some formalities to assist parties in discussing those matters.  

We have had one of these technical drafting hearings before and it 

worked well as a model for ensuring that drafting is as accurate as it 10 

can before we move to the process of dealing with closing submissions.   

 

 Now, you will see the Panel names in front of them; Ms Dawson, Sarah 

Dawson; Mr Neill, that is Alec Neill, and Mr Willis, that is Gerard 

Willis. 15 

 

 Marcus Langman is to my left; Marcus is going to help me in terms of 

recording issues as we go through so we can keep our discussion 

moving. 

 20 

 Now, there are some – a transcript is operating and that formality of the 

hearing applies.  In terms of assisting the transcriber – Sam, who is 

managing the transcribing machine – while it might sound a little bit 

pedantic it is necessary for the transcript for you when you wish to say 

something, for instance if there is an issue you want to speak to, to 25 

again repeat your name before you make your comment; so your name 

and who you are there for if you happen to be a consultant and that way 

the transcript keeps a record of that as we go through. 

 

 Now, I think what we should do as a matter of record for the transcript 30 

is to start with a record of parties attendance.  So Mr Laing for the 

Council. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And Mr Collins assisting him.   

 

MR……….   Reeve.  (ph 2.22) 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms (ph 2.24) Reeves. 40 

 

MR……….:   (INDISTINCT 2.23) Sarah Oliver. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, Ms Oliver.  Now, if we could go around the room, I 

think perhaps Ms Harte? 45 
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MS HARTE:   Yes, I am here for Luneys Buchanans, Patricia Harte. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Harte, I wonder if you could come closer to the 

microphone just so that the transcript – yes. 

 5 

MS HARTE:   Patricia Harte. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  And just across the table, Mr Pickering? 

 

MR PICKERING:   Yes, Luke Pickering. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   For yourself. 

 

MR MAJOR:   Ross Major here, I am submitter 2499. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Major.  And starting at the other end? 

 

MS LIMMER:   Ms Limmer, for Fulton Hogan. 

 

MS WEST:   Jane West, for Fulton Hogan. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MS McINTYRE:   Sandra McIntyre, for the Crown. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   For the Crown, all right, okay.  Thanks very much, I think 

we have done that.  

 

 So just by way of a starting point, I think in particular for the lay 

submitters here, and we have read the papers that have been received 30 

and the memoranda that have come in. 

 

 Just to reassure you about the process; as I indicated at the adjournment 

of the hearing, there will be a timetabled process from here so at this 

stage we are just dealing with technical drafting issues associated with 35 

what the Council is putting forward. 

 

 So for instance your memoranda where they describe matters that you 

still wish us to decide; we have not made any decisions on any of those 

matters, and where we have to make choices between one party’s 40 

position and the other we will do that in light of closing submissions. 

 

  [9.10 am] 

 

 So after this session I will ask the Council to refresh its draft in light of 45 

this discussion to ensure that its technical draft (INDISTINCT 0.15) 
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can be for the purposes of our consideration of.  And then what will 

follow from that will be a timetabled process, whereby submitters will 

present their closing submissions and then the Council will present its 

closing. 

 5 

 So the first thing you will get is a refreshed draft, then you can do your 

closing submissions if you wish on any matters that are important to 

you, then Council will have the final right of closing, and in light of all 

of that information and everything we have heard we will then 

deliberate and make our decisions.  But the important thing about this 10 

is to ensure that technically we have a sound set of provisions that we 

can work with, is that understood?  All right. 

 

 Now, we set aside about two hours, we do not have much more time 

than that, we have got to conclude this in sufficient time for this room 15 

to be cleared and set up for a hearing starting at 1 o’clock on the 

central city provisions, just so that the parties are aware of that. 

 

 The next point I wanted to say is, in terms of the draft that we have 

received with the memorandum, I would like to record the Panel’s 20 

appreciation to the Council, to Mr Laing for leading that, and to the 

parties that have assisted in that because, as I say, in terms of an 

exercise of ensuring we have sound technical drafting to consider it is a 

significant improvement in a technical sense from what we were 

previously dealing with and we are grateful for that, notwithstanding 25 

that we will have a number of issues to work our way through today. 

 

 So we have received the various memoranda; Ms Limmer, your one 

sets out your issues; we have got one from Ms Semple, she is not here 

today but is intending to do closings; and the memoranda from 30 

Mr Stokes – we do not have Mr Stokes here today I just noticed? – all 

right, but we have got his memorandum and we have got yours, 

Mr Pickering, and we have read that too. 

 

 Now, in addition to the drafting in that and, Mr Pickering, your 35 

memorandum relates to this, we have got the 16 February minute and, 

Mr Laing, I wonder whether we could actually in the order of things – I 

will come to dealing with issues shortly – but whether we were able to 

deal with that at the beginning of things to see what the Council’s 

position is on that minute, and Mr Pickering, at that stage you may, 40 

depending on what is said at that point, if you wish to stay you are very 

welcome to but if you wanted to leave while we are dealing with other 

boring stuff, you would be welcome to leave too, so I just give you that 

option. 

 45 
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 So in terms of the order of things I think if we bring that forward.  So 

the parties have got the circulated agenda, as I say in addition to those 

matters we will deal with the 16 February minute on Highfield.   

 

 A third item I wanted to note, and I can deal with this later, but it is a 5 

technical issue for the Council and I could possibly deal with this by a 

subsequent minute but there are a range of definitions that apply to the 

Meadowland exemplar at the moment which, in terms of the Panel also 

needing to consider getting out its definitions decision as soon as it can, 

I just thought I would get clarity on whether or not those definitions 10 

remain alive.  But I think probably the most efficient thing on that 

would be for me to issue a minute describing those definitions, 

allowing the Council to confer with relevant parties on that and come 

back to us. 

 15 

 All right, so what I suggest we next do is I would like to go around the 

table and to allow Mr Langman to help record issues, and what I would 

like to do is have a full record of the issues in regard to provisions so 

that we can then have a provision by provision discussion using as a 

basis for that once we have dealt with the 16 February memorandum, 20 

using as our basis the drafting in the memorandum of 12 February from 

Mr Laing and the subsequent one on the various outline plans that is 

the 16 February memorandum. 

 

 So I think it might be proper that we deal with that now.  So perhaps 25 

starting with – Mr Stokes, do you want to just record your name foe 

transcript? 

 

MR STOKES:   Yes, thank you. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And before you came in I explained that this session is a 

technical drafting session and it leaves alive the issues that parties want 

to address in their closing submissions and so where there are matters 

of remaining difference, for instance between you and the Council, or 

whatever, you will have that opportunity to make your points.   35 

 

  [9.15 am] 

 

 We have read your memorandum on the points you have made, and of 

course we will take that as part of your closing, but you will not need to 40 

traverse those points of difference today, in the sense that you will have 

the opportunity to do that in your closing submissions and we will just 

focus now on the technical drafting matters, is that all right? 

 

MR STOKES:   Okay, that is great, thanks very much.  I may not be required 45 

then today. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, that is the other thing, I indicated to Mr Pickering as 

well that if you feel as though your purposes are served already by that 

you can feel free to take your leave, just indicate when you are heading 

off and there will not be any formalities you will simply be able to head 5 

off, all right? 

 

MR STOKES:   Thank you very much, I appreciate it. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 10 

 

 All right, so I think perhaps, Ms Limmer, we might start with you and 

just work around the table if you could just perhaps speak and just 

identify I think by reference to your memorandum. 

 15 

 So if Mr Langman just records as we go; do you want to just briefly 

speak to how those relate to the provisions? 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, sir, thank you.  This was filed before the ODPs came out 

as well and there is one additional issue arising from them, which I will 20 

add to the list. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay. 

 

MS LIMMER:   But essentially item A is about the fact that when chapter 8 25 

was drafted and going through and when the Panel’s decision came out 

the words “short-term use” were in there but at that time the words 

“interim use” were not in the mix; they weren’t part of the drafting 

scene for that chapter and now they are.  They were brought in when 

Mr Collins prepared his revisions of the new neighbourhood zone 30 

provisions. 

 

 So the question there is really is it a drafting matter or is it a substantive 

and intentional difference? 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 

MS LIMMER:   The second and third issues are quite similar and that is 

because in attachment A there is wording in the outline development 

plan policy, that reads the same as the outline development plan policy 40 

in B and C, but the wording is different in respect of “interim”. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so if we just get the policy numbers for 

Mr Langman to record, and we will go through the substance of that 

when we get to the policy. 45 
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MS LIMMER:   Yes, so the three policies of relevance are policy 8.1.2.9B in 

attachment A, 8.1.4.1 in attachment B and 14.1.5.1 in attachment C. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, and those should be dealt with as a group when 

we come to discussing? 5 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you. 

 10 

MS LIMMER:   It is the interrelationship of those three.  And the final point 

that is not on the memorandum is the outline development plan for 

South Masham and that still has the words “area to be quarried”. 

 

 We talked about that at the hearing and I understood it was generally 15 

agreed that that could become “area consented for quarrying” just to 

clarify that that is reflecting a factual and existing situation rather than 

making any suggestion about what may or may not be appropriate in 

the future. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Now, Ms McIntyre – Mr Stokes, we have got 

your memorandum? 

 

MR STOKES:   I do not know if it would assist the Panel and staff if I actually 

gave the LIDAR levels that was referred to by Mr Norton in his 25 

evidence? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No – well, no, just thinking about if there are any, bearing 

in mind you will have the opportunity for closing, and we appreciate 

the differences between you and the Council on these matters in 30 

regards to storm water and the cross-examination theory we will be 

looking at closely and that sort of thing when we come to deliberate.  

But are there any technical drafting issues in regard to the outline 

development plan or related provisions that you thought we needed to 

be aware of? 35 

 

MR STOKES:   Well, actually the actual plan itself, yes, of what should be 

shown on there and what should not are matters that aren’t proven to be 

actually viable should not be shown - - - 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So which outline development plan just so that we have 

got that noted, the Yaldhurst one.  Do you know what number it is? 

 

MS DAWSON:   They are not in numerical order. 

 45 
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MR RANSFIELD:   Sir, if you could make sure everyone speaking has a 

microphone. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay, Sam, thank you.   

 5 

  [9.20 am] 

 

 Yes, it is a bit constraining to bear in mind the microphone, but I, it was 

just a case of finding – I think it will be all right at the moment. 

 10 

 All right, so that is the Yaldhurst plan.  Now, bearing in mind again, if I 

could remind you, Mr Stokes, that if there are technical drafting errors, 

deal with those. 

 

MR STOKES:   Yes. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But questions of the amount of storm water and provision 

and the merits, all that, that is for your closing submissions, all right – 

not for today, otherwise we will not get through the agenda. 

  20 

MR STOKES:  One thing I am not sure how to address, sir, is where the 

evidence has been wrong and I was not able to - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Can I make that very clear; this is a technical drafts 

hearing.  I do not know how many times I need to say it. 25 

 

MR STOKES:   I do not know if I can deal with that in closing though, how I 

can challenge evidence in closing because I cannot produce any 

evidence or anything? 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The evidence is before us and this is a technical drafting 

hearing.  It does not represent our view; the closing submissions will be 

your opportunity to address us on anything that you think is relevant 

arising from what has been heard and the evidence and the transcript 

and everything is available to you and I would urge you to make that 35 

your vehicle for those comments. 

 

MR STOKES:   Right, okay. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It is just to make sure you understand the nature of this 40 

and I think your initial question was whether or not you needed to be 

here.  I am saying only on technical issues.  Closing submission issues 

you will have your opportunity in closing. 
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MR STOKES:   All right, the technical issues and the evidence, though is 

wrong.  That was the issue and I would like to address those technical 

issues of that but I do not know how to do it. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, not today, in your closing. 5 

 

MR STOKES:  Okay, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, all right, so Ms McIntyre, now if you just 

identify the provisions if you would not mind.  We will deal with the 10 

substance of the issues later in the agenda. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   I am not sure.  I have identified a number of provisions in 

relation to matters of clarity and/or relationship between the rules. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:    Do you have a list of - - - 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   I have a list of provisions with the issues and I think that is 

probably more useful to circulate.   

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We will circulate that now.  Mr Langman will grab a copy 

of it and he will try to find a way of bringing those in. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Mr Langman has done some copies for me.   

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms McIntyre, the most efficient thing might be for you to 

pop out and get that copied with the secretariat just while we are going 

around getting the rest of the agenda sorted.   

 

 All right, so now working our way across, I think, probably to the other 30 

parties.  Now, Ms Harte, do you wish to nominate any provisions that 

you wish to be discussed or outline plans? 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes, there is a new subdivision section, RD 7.  In the narrative 

to south Masham, the setback provisions. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is that the outlined Plan? 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So the outlined Plan for south Masham. 

 

MS HARTE:    Yes, the narrative to it. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The setback, yes. 45 
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MS HARTE:   And provision under the General Matters for Subdivision 

8.4.4.1 G. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:    All right.  Okay, is there anything else? 

 5 

MS HARTE:   No. 

 

  [9.25 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:    All right, thank you.  Mr Major, do you wish to raise any 10 

technical drafting issues with any of the provisions?  You do not have 

to but if you wish to. 

 

MR MAJOR:   My interest is only the Highfield ones which are mentioned in 

your minute of 16 February. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:    All right, so we will come to that next, thank you.  Is that 

the same for you, Mr Pickering? 

 

MR PICKERING:   That is correct. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well, thank you for that. 

 

 So what we will do before we go through, just to allow Mr Langman to 

collate that in some way and take us through that order shortly, I think 25 

we will turn next to the 16 February minute – and so we added this to 

the agenda as something we realised we did want to get to the party a 

bit earlier but I had explained the reasons why we were not in a 

position to do that. 

 30 

 Mr Laing, is there anything that could be said on behalf of the Council, 

on this? 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, firstly, it was my intention to file a memorandum.  This 

really has been stymied, if I can use your word, by my presence at 35 

another hearing and also just the availability of parties and to my mind 

is that there are issues in there that I needed to get myself up to speed 

with.  I just was not comfortable about doing so. 

 

 I was going to suggest Ms Oliver speaks generally to the issues 40 

followed by Ms Reeves and I am still happy to file a memorandum just 

to put the Council’s position on record but it does involve a mixture of 

drafting and more substantial issues, so we would need to really sort of 

try to separate those out today, but to the extent possible, I would be 

happy to try to address that. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so perhaps, Ms Oliver, are you able to speak to 

the microphone there just by you and you will see the minute deals first 

with the question of the notification track for Highfield and then on 

other provisions which the Panel is interested in, as per the minute. 

 5 

 So is there anything you could add to Mr Laing’s comments at this 

stage to assist the understanding of Mr Pickering and Mr Major and 

ourselves? 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes, so here I need to rely on the Revised Proposal for 10 

Earthworks, so this chapter 8, that was submitted with the Council’s 

closing legal submissions for the chapter 8, stage 2 hearing because that 

has provisions in it which are of relevance and specifically it is 

rule 8.8.1.3, rule 8.8.2 which is a permitted activities and those two are 

of particular relevance in terms of what the District Plan is proposing to 15 

control. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Can you give us the page references for those? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Do we have those in front of us anywhere in the material 20 

provided? 

 

MS OLIVER:   No, so this was going to be submitted with our material so I 

can take time to copy because I have them in front of me here.  I could 

copy those particular rules.  There are just two pages. 25 

 

 So we were going to put that but those are the relevant rules to simply 

note how it works, how the residential new neighbourhood rules will 

work together with the chapter 8 rules to control earthworks and to also 

address notification of earthworks so the particular rule actually in 30 

chapter 8 which is rule 8.8.2 permitted activity 1, these are clauses 4, 5 

and 6 of that rule which manage the effects of land compaction.  They 

manage the effects of noise arising from mechanical equipment and 

there is a particular standard which is required to be met which is the 

DIN 4150. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is that a vibration standard? 

 

  [9.30 am] 

 40 

MS OLIVER:   Yes it is, it is a land compacting standard vibration and – so 

those rules are of relevance here and in a way replace, in my view, the 

Highfield rule, will actually provide greater guidance in terms of what 

is appropriate. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 
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MS OLIVER:   And – sorry – I will just continue with the notification matter.  

The notification was, I mentioned before, rule 8.8.1.3, and it states that 

non-compliance with any of the permitted activities “may require 

approvals” and “may be notified”; that is the words. 5 

 

 So the difference there between the Highfield operative plan standard 

was the fact that it said “will”; so it is whether you use the word “will” 

or “may” in this instance.   

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Does the Council have a policy position on one or other of 

those at this stage? 

 

MS OLIVER:   In terms of chapter 8 to manage land compaction for all 

greenfield areas; its position was “may”, because if they meet the 15 

standards therefore Council would have limited grounds to justify 

notification, and they may be providing in their consent conditions that 

address the issue. 

 

 So the Council’s position was it did not absolutely require notification 20 

and there is no difference, in my view, between all greenfield areas in 

the Highfield one, acknowledging that Highfield is going to require 

significant land compaction. 

   

 But that was what we were going to put forward in our memorandum. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Laing, is there anything further? 

 

MR LAING:   Duncan Laing – Ms Oliver, so I take it that the answer is 

probably “may”? 30 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes, it was “may”. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, thank you. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Reeves, is there anything further you wish to comment 

on? 

 

MS REEVES:   Not on that point but we have got another point, which I am 

not sure whether Ms Oliver is going to cover or myself, about the rural 40 

activities. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So Ms Oliver will cover that? 

 

MS OLIVER:   So it is Ms Oliver – this is in regard to the rural activities to be 45 

provided for.  In the Highfield plan change, the rule, and I apologise I 
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do not have the exact wording in front of me, but there was a rule there 

that allowed for rural activities generally to be provided for, you know, 

continue to be provided for. 

 

 How that is proposed to be dealt with in this residential and 5 

neighbourhood zone, calls to rule, permitted activity rule 14.9.2.1 P19 

– P30, sorry, apologies, I have got confused with the other one, P30. 

 

 So the approach taken here or proposed to be taken is that it provides 

for the same activities in the rural urban fringe, permitted activities in 10 

the rural urban fringe zone, and so it lists those.  That is just the 

drafting style there to take you back to the rural urban fringe zone.   

 

 Now noting that the land in the operative Plan was rural 3.  So it is a 

very similar zoning. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Pickering and Mr Major, just what effectively the 

Council’s explaining is that their position at this stage will be clarified 

by memorandum, now, the Panel is of course, at this stage, simply 

receiving that preliminary view but I want to emphasise the fact that on 20 

points of difference, on these sorts of judgement calls, ultimately are 

judgement falls with the Panel for how these things are to be addressed, 

so you will have the opportunity to address matters on this in closing 

remarks and closing representations, and you will have the benefit, first 

of all of this transcript explanation, but also of the memorandum that 25 

Mr Laing has indicated would be forthcoming which would be 

reflecting the Council’s intended position. 

 

 And as I say, that does not necessarily represent the Panel’s position; it 

will be for the Panel to make its relevant judgement calls on these 30 

points of difference in light of different parties’ positions. 

 

  [9.35 am] 

 

 Now with that explanation is there anything further you wanted to 35 

comment on at this stage on this matter, given it does seem to be a 

matter we will have to make a call on in light of all the material we will 

receive. 

 

MR PICKERING:   That is fine – It is Luke Pickering – thank you, your 40 

Honour, so I understand that there is yet to be a memorandum on this 

and therefore, from my perspective, is extraordinarily difficult to talk 

about anything if we do not have it in front of us. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   I can assure you that that will not compromise our ability 

to receive and consider what you in due course will say, in light of once 

you have received that memorandum. 

 

MR PICKERING:   Thank you, I think in the interests of carrying things on, 5 

then I do not have anything to say at this stage. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Mr Major? 

 

MR MAJOR:   It is Ross Major here, I agree, I will certainly withdraw now 10 

and wait for the memorandum.  Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  I will just ask Mr Laing to indicate a timetable 

for that, and actually just on the way past, if you could hand the 

microphone to Ms Dawson - - - 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   Can I just enquire; the non-notification, or non-notification 

clause that is deleted in the subdivision rules.  It covered notification 

matters in relation to more than just earthworks.  There were three 

other clauses in that provision which have now been deleted; I just 20 

wonder whether the memorandum will cover the Council’s position on 

those matters as well? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Ms Oliver? 

 25 

MS OLIVER:   Ms Oliver, yes we can do.  I did respond to those on 

questioning as well, so it is also recorded in the transcript, but we can 

restate those as well as to where they have gone to or where they are 

dealt with specifically elsewhere or through other provisions, so we can 

make that clear as well. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I think that is important to be as explicit as we can bearing 

in mind Mr Major and Mr Pickering are lay submitters.  It is important 

for these issues to be as clear as possible for them to understand the 

Council’s position so that they can fully respond. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Willis is there anything you wanted to ask about on 

this before I hand back to Mr Laing to get clarity on the memorandum 40 

timing. 

 

MR WILLIS:   I will wait for his memo. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you.  Mr Laing, could you give us an 45 

indication of the timing on that bearing in mind the other hearing. 
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MR LAING:   Ms Oliver, how long do you think you will need, I will need a 

day, so I was thinking about the middle of next week. 

 

MS OLIVER:   I do not think it will take long, I think we have got all the 5 

information. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so the indication is towards the middle of next 

week and I think probably if we set – perhaps if we just set the 

direction now as being by 4 pm Thursday. 10 

 

MR LAING:   4 pm Thursday. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Next week for it to be and if it could be served – are your 

addresses for service on the secretariat website, for email services? 15 

 

MR PICKERING:   For email. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   For email service, yes, so if they are posted to the 

secretariat by 4 pm, the secretariat can arrange for those to be provided 20 

to Mr Pickering - - - 

 

MR LAING:   We will definitely get it by 4 pm on Thursday. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That will give you advanced notice of the Council’s view.  25 

I do not – unless you wish me to – I do not propose to set any 

directions in place for you to respond to that memorandum because I 

think you can just deal with it once in your closing submissions when 

that is timetabled or if that would suit you better, I think it probably 

would rather than have to deal with it at an earlier stage. 30 

 

MR PICKERING:   We are exhausted at the moment. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I understand that, but anyway, the indication is there 

on that.  So you should feel free to remain if you wish or to leave if you 35 

wish – sorry, Ms Reeves? 

 

MS REEVES:   Could I just say something – one of the questions you asked 

was that some of the matters had been carried through from the 

provisions, and you were not sure whether all of them had. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS REEVES:   So I have checked through and the two things that we have just 

talked about were the main things.  Everything else was carried through 45 
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but there are some things that might be a bit awkward because the 

whole plan change was predicated on there being a major landowner. 

 

  [9.40 am] 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well bearing in mind the particular perspective 

of the submitters and the issues that they face and how those were 

addressed in plan change 67, and how it is often difficult to understand 

how things are translated into a different plan and said in different ways 

and the lack of confidence that submitters can often have in that 10 

process, I think it is important for the memorandum to be very explicit 

about all of those matters as well so that they can be fully reported on 

to the submitters, and we will consider the position in due course. 

 

 If we can now move to the next stage of the agenda which is to go 15 

through – now there are also, Ms Dawson – what you are now 

receiving in addition to the points that have been raised, are a number 

of technical issues which Ms Dawson has asked questions about 

concerning the various provisions. 

 20 

 With your help, Mr Laing, I would like to do this in the order of 

provisions as much as we can, but where we come to deal with an issue 

such as the Fulton Hogan one which is involving a cluster of 

provisions, we will just deal with that cluster at one time. 

 25 

 So if we start at the beginning and I think if Mr Laing has missed your 

issue as we go, just raise the matter as you go and we will put it in. 

 

 So Ms Limmer, I think we will deal with your general issue first on the 

question of short term use versus interim use which is a generic 30 

drafting point.  What I will do is I will get you to speak to that now, 

and if Mr Laing or Mr Collins can provide any response to what you 

have to say at this stage, I will give them the opportunity to do that. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Ms Limmer speaking.  The question arises out of the 35 

integration of the Panel’s decision on stage 1 of chapter 8, and 

particularly policy 8.1.2.1 B which uses the term, “short-term use”.  

And then new neighbourhood zone hearings and the provisions in 

chapter 8 that relate to that, the term “interim use” is introduced and 

used and that is in the policy 8.1.2.9 B with attachment A and similar 40 

policies in option B and in attachment C as well. 

 

 So the question is one of clarification; is the drafting intentional? – are 

they meant to mean different things or are they in fact talking about the 

same thing in different ways? 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Collins, are you able to address that? 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes, so the short term certainly comes from the terminology 

of that 8.1.2.1 B that the Panel’s decision introduced, and I was keeping 

that but in 8.1.2.9 B this was clause B which was seen to cover perhaps 5 

a range of other possible uses and development rather than just 

quarrying. 

 

 So I think some of those may not necessarily be short-term, or at least 

there could be arguments about what short-term is.  So the key thing is 10 

that it was an interim use prior to its greenfield development so  - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So just to clarify, were it not for the fact that the Panel 

referred to short-term, what would your opinion be on a better word, 

bearing in mind this is a technical discussion and you are not under 15 

oath but just to assist? 

 

MR COLLINS:   I would have been happy with interim because to me, it is a 

stepping stone to the final one that where “short-term” has 

connotations; what is “short-term”? 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So in a drafting sense you would probably be with the 

Fulton Hogan position rather than the drafting that you felt you had to 

work with on “short-term”? 

 25 

MR COLLINS:   I think that is correct, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right.  Anything further Ms Limmer? 

 

  [9.45 am] 30 

 

MS LIMMER:   No sir, that clarification is helpful, it really was understanding 

that there was a drafting issue or a substantive issue.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so it may be that if the parties have a view that 35 

that should be changed then their submissions can assist us in whether 

or not that is available to us under the minor corrections regime of the 

Order in Council. 

 

 What is the next one on the list. 40 

 

MR LANGMAN:   So the next matter – sorry, Marcus Langman – Is whether 

8.1.4.1, the terminology, this was in your second matter in your - - - 

 

 MS LIMMER:   Yes, so this is the interrelationship between policy 8.1.4.1 of 45 

option B and policy 8.1.2.9 of option A. 



 Page 17 

  

New Neighbourhood Zones Technical Drafting Session  Commenced 18.02.16 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Perhaps I should float this drafting issue that the Panel has 

before it now in terms of the two options because I think that we might 

cut through a bit of this. 

 5 

 I have to say in terms of a drafting preference, bearing in mind the 

Panel is trying to construct a wider plan here and needs to think about 

those structural connections and I will have my other Panel members 

make any observations they have, but my observation would be that we 

have the provisions integrated as the Council has suggested in its 10 

preference rather than try to have a standalone regime, bearing in mind 

there are – I know there are trade-offs and there are things going both 

ways but where we are at, I think, it is probably the better approach.   

 

 Ms McIntyre for the Crown, I wonder if we can just bring you into this 15 

at this point.  I saw you nodding but I do not know whether that 

indicates - - - 

 

MS McINTYRE:   Sandra McIntyre for the Crown – I agree with that position. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so I do not think there is any need to ask for 

other Panel views, I see some nodding around the room so if we start 

with that premise and on the assumption that we will go with that 

model drafting of the ultimate provisions structurally, so what is the 

provision we should refer to.  The preferred option A, isn’t it? 25 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes, that is right. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And so what is the number for that? 

 30 

MR……….:   It is 8.1.4.1. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Sir, that clarification effectively gets rid of the second issue on 

my list because that was about whether they should be the same, if we 

go with option A that dissolves anyway. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Dissolves that problem. 

 

MS LIMMER:   So the remaining issue then in terms of the policy 8.1.2.9 B is 

whether attachment A – sorry, option A is used, whether then policy 40 

14.1.5.1 of attachment C should read the same, because it used to read 

the same as the option B – sorry, numbers and options but that is the 

best way I can explain it. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right – I am a bit slow on the uptake and I just have to 45 

find the second number which is 14.1.5.1? 
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MS LIMMER:   Yes, so 14.1.5.1 B and at the moment that drafting is 

effectively the same as what was in option B. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, all right, and assuming the common preference of 5 

you and the Council is to use the word “interim” rather than “short-

term”? 

 

MS LIMMER:   Even subtlety as well as that, sir, the difference is that that 

reflects what was in option B, 8.1.4.1 – and my question is if option A 10 

is the preferred option, and if that is utilised, should not that 14.1.5.1 

reflect the 8.1.2.9. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, Ms Dawson? 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   Sarah Dawson – could I just make an observation and I am 

just wondering whether I understand what is happening because I can 

fully see what you are talking about, Ms Limmer.   

 

 In the subdivision policy, the old B and C have been compacted into 20 

one new B, whereas in the residential policy at 14.1.5.1 what was the B 

and C are still quite separate provisions. 

 

 Now, I am wondering whether that is on the basis that with the new 

integrated version of the subdivision policies in option A, there is also 25 

8.1.2.1 B which is the one that contains the words “short-term” which 

is almost the same as the previous C, although it is more particularly 

focused on aggregate extraction. 

 

  [9.50 am] 30 

 

 Well, it is, in fact it would be – if 8.1.2.9 included the old C it would be 

a complete replacement of 8.1.2.1 B, and I think the Council has 

deleted it in order to avoid having two policies that read exactly the 

same. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Who wants to pick this up, Mr Collins, you have got the 

microphone - - - 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes, Ms Dawson has picked up on the point.  I guess I felt in 40 

redrafting I was not at liberty at that stage to change 8.1.2.1 B but that 

was clearly under the heading of recovery activities and it felt that what 

this other policy about interim uses was designed to achieve was 

slightly broader than if you like just recovery activities. 

 45 
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 So there is a degree of duplication at present I acknowledge that and if 

we can find a way to only say it once I would support that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Practically speaking, Mr Collins, you are in a position to 

confer with Ms Limmer before the Council produces a refreshed 5 

version?  So in other words to see if you can effectively resolve any 

drafting clarity matters between you? 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes, I am more than happy. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Oliver I think may have a view. 

 

MS OLIVER:     I think they both have to stay because of the reasons you have 

just given, Andrew.  The duplication actually comes from the insertion 

of the words in 8.1.2.9 when it refers to aggregate extraction because it 15 

is already recognised – aggregate extraction is already recognised in 

8.1.2.1. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Ms Dawson here – My previous comment was to try and 

clarify for Ms Limmer why C had been deleted in order that it was not 20 

a duplication of 8.1.2.9B.  Personally, I think what the Council has 

done avoids duplication, but if Ms Limmer needs to be satisfied with 

that, then - - - 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes – Ms Limmer, sorry – I think I understand that and I 25 

understand Mr Collins’ point as well. 

 

 The question was more about and it really comes back to the 

option A/option B confusion or option at the beginning because if we 

don’t use option B in the policy there about outline development plans 30 

which treats this clause differently, I wonder why if we use option A 

why the clause that used to be the option B clause isn’t reflected in the 

attachment C.   

 

 Sorry, so it is so difficult to explain because at the moment what you 35 

have is you attachment C parroting effectively the words of 8.1.2.1 and 

option B’s words where that use an equivalent of 8.1.2.9.  Whereas 

option A uses both the 8.1.2.1 words and then in a different context the 

8.1.2.9 words and my question is should attachment C and the outline 

development plan policy there reflect the outline development plan 40 

policy in option A.  It is not a question about duplicating the 8.1.2.1 

policy, it is about whether or not that 8.1.2.9 B should also be in the 

chapter 14. 
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 I am sorry it is not a – I understand there is not a duplication and I 

understand there is a role for both 8.1.2.9 and 8.1.2.1, it is a question 

about whether 14.1.5.1 should reflect 8.1.2.1 or 8.1.2.9. 

 

MR LAING:   Mr Collins, do you want to - r if you can’t just say that we will 5 

deal with later on, Ms Limmer? 

 

  [9.55 am] 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes, the key reason why it is different is I wanted to – chapter 10 

8.1.2.1 only applies to subdivision activities.   

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes. 

 

MR COLLINS:   Okay, this chapter 14 obviously applies to the quarrying land 15 

use type activity.  I wanted to incorporate the important elements from 

8.1.2.9 which did talk about short term or we may call it interim use but 

it also talked about being able to be undertaken as part of the 

preparation of urban development.  So it has actually been a deliberate 

attempt to make sure that chapter 14 does encapsulate the key elements 20 

from both clauses in chapter 8. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Okay, yes, that was effectively the question, is was it a 

drafting issue or is a substantive difference so that is - - - 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The Council is welcome at this stage to reflect on its 

position and express it in the revised version.  I get a sense that there 

might be a need for some further discussion between Ms Oliver and 

Mr Collins, I am not sure.  And I am quite happy for that to occur 

outside this room if need be. 30 

 

MS OLIVER:   Just in my view for 14.1.5.1 B, in my view I think the short 

term use for aggregate extraction is adequately dealt with in chapter 8 

and someone can rely on that policy when they are using the plan.  So 

nothing is lost in my view if we deleted the words “short-term use” 35 

from B.  I recognise the intention is trying to cover it off in both 

chapters but - - - 

 

MR COLLINS:   Okay, but I just want to make sure that if someone comes in 

with just a land use consent only and no subdivision component will 40 

they even look at chapter 8 given that that is about subdivision and I 

guess – oh, and earthworks but I just wanted to make sure there wasn’t 

effectively a loophole in what is a sensitive issue. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, I think - - - 45 
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MS OLIVER:   Sorry, that is the key, chapter 8 is titled “Subdivision 

development and earthworks”, and when you look at those definitions 

of “all”, aggregate extraction fall within them. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, I think we have probably thrashed it around 5 

enough in the dark to be clear about it and for the moment – and fully 

accept if the Council wishes to reflect on its position further and 

express it formally in its revised version, and Ms Limmer, you can 

respond to that if need be and we will ultimately make any call that we 

need to make. 10 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, sir, thank you. 

 

MR LAING:   I think that is appropriate, we just need to make sure we have 

got everything sorted but that can go in the revised revised proposal. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I think that is fine.  All right, the next issue. 

 

 Now, Ms Limmer, your next issue was on the question of, bearing in 

mind this is a technical drafting clarity session and closings will follow, 20 

I have noted though your point was “area to be quarried” whether it 

should be “area consented to be quarried”. 

 

 And I think you made the point that that was made clear and bearing in 

mind the hearing was a contested process so it would be a question of 25 

whether or not the parties have a view on that differently, if so it can be 

in closing submissions but is there anything you wanted to ask 

Mr Collins in terms of drafting clarity? 

 

MR LAING:   In terms of the substantial issue Panel I do not think the Council 30 

has any problem with using the words “consented” if that shortcuts the 

position. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, that is good. 

 35 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, sir and it was only ever raised it was meant to be a 

drafting question not a substantive one because I understood that 

wasn’t, I understand there were issues but that wasn’t one of those. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, it does on the face of it make it clearer so thank you 40 

for that.  All right, the next issue, now - - - 

 

MS LIMMER:   Sir, could I ask please whether I may be excused from the 

remainder of the discussion? 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, certainly, thank you for your assistance, Ms Limmer. 
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MS LIMMER:   Thank you, sir, and Ms West also. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you, Ms West. 

 5 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, sir.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so now the next matter in order is the Crown’s 

issue I think 8.1.2.8.   

 10 

 Actually if we go back to 8.1.2.4 I think, Ms Dawson, we might pick 

up on your issue next, I am just trying to keep a running record of the 

order of things. 

 

  [10.00 am] 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   I am sorry my aren’t in exact order. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, that is all right.  So you have got an issue for 8.1.2.4. 

 20 

  [10.00 am] 

 

MS DAWSON:   And 2 – Ms Dawson – If you got my questions, maybe my 

first two questions, it relates to the comments from the Council that I 

highlighted in yellow in Option A where whether some of the previous 25 

policies such as previous 8.1.4.9 and previous 8.1.4.4 are fully captured 

in 8.1.2.2, 8.1.2.4, 8.1.2.7 in terms of capturing all the particular 

elements that were included in the previous policies included in the 

mediation rebuttal version and so I have just highlighted in my first two 

comments some examples of matters that I felt could be said to not 30 

have been picked up in the existing policies or the amendments to those 

existing policies and just something for the Council to think about. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Take away and consider? 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   To take away and consider, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay, so you do not need to form a view on it now 

but perhaps take these under consideration for your revised version. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   And I suppose the question would be that although maybe the 

existing policies incorporate generally the same themes, that maybe 

there could be some refinement of those policies even if it is 

specifically for the RNN zones. 

 45 
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 And the side question for that is whether – I think previous policy 

8.1.4.9 and its incorporation into the existing or new policies should be 

deferred until after the hearing of chapter 9, and that may be something 

that Mr Long might comment on because he has been dealing with the 

subdivision aspects that relate to chapter 9 which includes the sites of 5 

cultural significance to Ngai Tahu, and that has now been sort of 

woven into various existing or slightly tweaked policies. 

 

MS OLIVER:   Sarah Oliver – Chapter 9, Ms Ferguson, I have been in 

conversation with her and there is a bit of work going on in chapter 9 in 10 

terms of their rules, objectives and policies so there is something 

coming out there and it may override these ones. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, because one of the Council witnesses in chapter 9 is 

dealing with the implications from chapter 9 for subdivision in 15 

chapter 8. 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So, maybe that whole area should be deferred. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So, just one thing to bear in mind, of course, is to assist 

the Panel to be able to issue decisions as we go on matters that we can 

sign off on, one of the matters we can do in that sense is to defer things 

rather than hold the decision back but just express them to be deferred 25 

in the decision so the Council could assist on that in terms of its revised 

version.  Perhaps put a covering note on that, Mr Laing? 

 

MR LAING:   Probably we could put marginal notes in the revised version or 

have a memorandum attached to it just to clarify those issues. 30 

 

MS OLIVER:   So, it is just a procedural issue to overcome because chapter 9 

has been heard now and they are not considering 8.1.4.9 where that 

may have been an appropriate place to consider it in. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But this Panel can constitute it for this chapter, if asked to, 

is in a position to defer from its own decision matters to an appropriate 

time so it can also have regard to the reasoning and substance of the 

chapter 9 decision. 

 40 

MR LAING:   Yes, also we will cover that off when we lodge with the Panel 

the revised version following this session today. 

 

MR COLLINS:   Can I just clarify, so both 8.1.2.2 and 8.1.2.4 from the Panel’s 

decision already have those words, of course.  This policy may be 45 

revisited following the hearing of it. 



 Page 24 

  

New Neighbourhood Zones Technical Drafting Session  Commenced 18.02.16 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR COLLINS:   So I certainly agree that we are not actually changing 

anything here in these proposals so I do assume it would carry over. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So, the various calls that we can make and depending on 

the views the parties express to us are deferral or decision on the basis 

of a rider that can see the provision revisited and the choice between 

those really relates to what is the best approach for the fact that the 10 

provisions, once we make our decision, will become operative as soon 

as practicable so they take operative effect.   

 

  [10.05 am] 

 15 

 Is it desirable to hold them back in substance or is it desirable to make 

them operative in an interim sense and we will just see what the 

parties’ views on that are.  8.1.2.4. 

 

MS DAWSON:   My third point relates to just the reference to “key structuring 20 

elements” in 8.1.2.4 A (iv) and those are the words that are used in 

relation to ODPs in the commercial and industrial zones but 

development requirements are now used for ODPs in the RNN zones, 

and it is just whether given that this policy has been adopted for the 

RNN zones potentially, if it is to be, then whether the words “and 25 

development requirements” or something like needs to be also reflected 

in that policy. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right. 

 30 

MR COLLINS:   I would agree. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:    Now, on the next clause, it is 8.1.2.8, we have got the 

Crown’s view, and also the points noted by Ms Dawson.  Perhaps 

hearing from you, Ms McIntyre, first? 35 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   And it may be that my issue incorporates Ms Dawson’s 

issue.  My issue here is that the policy as drafted almost repeats the rule 

but does not entirely repeat the rule and I think that is quite confusing, 

potentially unclear. 40 

 

 My suggestion is that the policy does not need to repeat the rule; that it 

could be simplified.  I have suggested some simplification which 

actually gets around the issues of having to tie up all the details such as 

where the 15 households per hectare is referred to and so on. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   That is helpful for the Council to consider that and form 

its view as to whether – I do not know whether you have a view at this 

stage on that. 

 

MR COLLINS:    I have looked at the table provided by Ms McIntyre and I 5 

have put notes of agreement to her amendments.  In my view, I do not 

think we are losing anything out of the policy.  There is a degree of 

repetition with the standard, and so I am supportive of those changes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson, I do not know if you have any observations 10 

on this.  Your comments were - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   My comment was quite specific and it did relate to the 

question that Ms McIntyre, or her comment that the policy almost 

reflected the rules but not quite and I think if the policy is going to go 15 

to that level of detail it needed to be really careful and I think if the 

policy was pulled back to being more at a policy level it may avoid my 

concern. 

 

MR LAING:   Ms Dawson, that is correct.  I think the Council generally has 20 

sort of agonised over that policy because it is a very important one, and 

there are obviously some (INDISTINCT 3.36) linkages with the rule. 

 

 But I think generally, as long as there is a close alignment between the 

policies flowing through to the rules, we can do some simplification 25 

there. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and I assumed that too.  It is important sometimes for 

policies to be directive and it is a question of judgement call as to how 

that direction is expressed. 30 

 

MR LAING:   Yes. 

 

MR WILLIS:   My comment might be redundant if we are going to look at this 

in a more substantive sense but when I read the policy the issues that 35 

came up was, in my mind, was the reference in some places to the 

density measured over or relevant to the residential development areas 

of the zone.  In other places in those policies it was not that clarified so 

it seemed to me to be possible that that could be interpreted as applying 

to the whole residential zone as a minimum density area rather than to 40 

the residential development area if you can follow that.   

 

 So, if you are looking at that policy it might just be something you need 

to have a think about.   

 45 
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MS MCINTYRE:   If I may comment, that was one of the matters that I was 

looking at in terms of the redrafting and whether it achieves or not but 

for the Council to look at in terms of that is the restructuring of the rule 

in terms of the layers in the numbering. 

 5 

  [10.10 am] 

 

 I have attempted to address that there by making the clauses relating to 

the specific circumstances, subsidiary to the one that talks about the 

density being averaged across the residential development area. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay.  Thanks for that and thanks for that assistance, 

Ms McIntyre, and I encourage Mr Collins to confer with you as this 

matter is being refined.   

 15 

MR COLLINS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The next policy is just over the page, and Ms Dawson’s 

comments on that, is there any other parties who have got – so this is 

the question of ODPs and how far they should - - - 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   I think there is a general question as to what outline 

development plan provisions cover, because we have outline 

development plans already in the residential, commercial and industrial 

zones in the decided decisions.  And so any provisions that just talk 25 

about outline development plans need to be wider and cover all those, 

and the ones that are in the plan at the moment – In the decided 

decision – are quite differently formulated and address a range of – I 

mean similar aspects, but different. 

 30 

 I noticed the comments in the outline plan that we need to change all 

the other outline development plans and just call them development 

plans, and that that is a retitling issue.  But actually it is referred to in a 

lot of rules in the decisions that are already issues, and I don’t know if 

that would be my preferred drafting “fix”, because it would require a 35 

lot of consequential amendments to decisions the Panel has already 

made and there could be a problem if we did not do that absolutely 

correctly. 

 

 So that is a comment, so my question then is that there is the original 40 

outline development plan policy in chapter 8; because, of course, 

chapter 8 covers all the zones, and so the outline development policy in 

chapter 8 needs to very clear what it applies to. 

 

 And the original policy has now been deleted, even though it said that it 45 

was to be revisited and was replaced by the mediation rebuttal version.  
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But the mediation was only to do with the RNN zones, and my question 

is – I mean it seems to me that there are various aspects in the previous 

version which applied more widely than the RNN that are no longer 

captured in the new policy and I just think that needs to be really 

carefully thought through. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is that, Ms Oliver, the gist of that? 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes, I understand it, and I think it is very unfortunate that we 

didn’t clarify this in the very beginning about the difference between an 10 

“outline development plan” and the use of the term “development 

plan”. 

 

 I mean it is my view, and I have looked at all of them across – and I 

have a list of them all – and whether they do fall strictly, because I am 15 

taking it from the regional policy statement which introduced the term 

outline development plan and the very specific policy criteria. 

 

 And my concern has been since looking at this, and in more detail 

looking at all the development plans/outline development plans, that 20 

there may be misconception of a plan user that they need to meet all the 

requirements of the regional policy statement when they title their plan 

an outline development plan, when really, it is only targeted to be for 

greenfield priority areas. 

 25 

 When you look at the outline development plans as titled in the district 

plan so far, many of them do not meet, and they do not come anywhere 

near meeting the requirements on that. 

 

 So in principle I do believe that we should do an exercise of renaming 30 

them.  I do not think it is that major an exercise, I think it is one that, if 

directed, so we can provide that, and I have looked at them and I do 

have a suggested solution.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well I think probably the way to maybe handle that would 35 

be to put that suggested solution in a memorandum asking for direction, 

and if that was the preferred solution - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   Ms Dawson – the only thing to bear in mind is that there is 

also coming up in commercial industrial, stage 2 – commercial and 40 

industrial outline development plan that are in greenfield priority areas.  

So there is such a mixture of them. 

 

  [10.15 am] 

 45 
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MS OLIVER:   Yes, and that is what I have looked at, and I just had not had 

time to confer with Mark Stevenson on this, but I believe we can deal 

with that because most of them would keep their name “outline 

development plan”.  It is actually some of the things like - - - 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   (INDISTINCT 00.20).   

 

MS OLIVER:   That is right, some of those ones, they are just development 

plans. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay – Judge Hassan, again – well I think we can leave it 

with the Council to come back with its preferred view on that.  If need 

be, I do not think there would be anything inappropriate about, if 

necessary, a Chambers discussion with Ms Dawson and the relevant 

Council planners on that. 15 

 

 It is purely technical clarity question that does not involve the 

interested parties, and if there was a need to further engage on it 

beyond this forum now, I think we could allow for a Chambers 

discussion of that nature.  All right. 20 

 

MR WILLIS:   Just one minor matter – Mr Willis here. 

 

 In the policy, in several other parties actually, the outline development 

plan phrase is followed by the words “which comprise both maps and 25 

plans and narrative”; I guess a simple question firstly is, is that even 

needed given the definition of an outline development plan says it 

includes both plans and narrative, and it does in some places but not in 

others.  So it did seem to me to be superfluous but I was just – yes, it 

does, okay, thank you.   30 

 

MS OLIVER:   It is superfluous.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.   

 35 

MR LAING:   Duncan Laing here – just before we leave that topic, I am just 

conscious of timing, if there is going to be some sort of Chambers 

discussion.  Because I just cannot recall now out exact programme, but 

that would need to be fairly shortly.  Does that create a problem, His 

Honour? 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, it would only be – well Ms Dawson is relatively 

thinly spread, it is difficult – but considers that she could do that to 

assist the Council, if the Council would find that helpful and just take it 

offline here. 45 
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 But perhaps the first preference I think I would express is for the 

Council to reflect on this, to come up with what it thinks is the right 

answer.  At that point you can judge whether a Chambers discussion is 

necessary. 

 5 

MR LAING:   Yes, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And if you feel as though you are struggling to actually 

come to that view without a Chambers discussion then we will simply 

facilitate that, it can be done at short notice if necessary, in a lunch 10 

recess, and we will just work around the hearings.   

 

MR LAING:   Thank you, your Honour. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  So the other thing to bear in mind is if it could 15 

be done here in a Chambers room or on the phone.   

 

 Now, mindful of time – it is now quarter past 10, which is three-

quarters of an hour from when we timetabled we would try to finish, 

and we are not that far into our agenda.   20 

 

 8.12.10 we will go to next, is that right? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   That is a straightforward clarity matter which I put forward 

as a suggestion, I don’t think it needs any discussion. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you, I think it would be good to indicate 

that as we go, if there is a technical matter just to table it and we will 

move to the next one.   

 30 

 Grammatical structure, the same goes for the other – what is the next 

one you are asking me about, sorry.   

 

MS DAWSON:   The last question. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson. 

 

MS DAWSON:   There is a difference in the grammatical structure of the 

additional policies 81.2.8 and 81.2.10 and I think it might come up 

again in the Residential Chapter.  Throughout the entire plan the 40 

policies start with a verb, and these policies don’t.  I think they could 

be made that way.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Activate the verb, I agree. 

 45 

MR COLLINS:   Collins – happy to work on that.   
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JUDGE HASSAN:   If I could just cover off as gently as I can, another drafting 

style issue.  I appreciate that modern PCO drafting, expects that the 

word “will” or “must” is a preference to the word “shall” which can 

cover both bases.  But in a pragmatic way we are dealing with a 5 

document here which has got a genesis of using “shall” throughout it in 

previous decisions and the suggestions on changing that for this one 

would have to go right through the whole Plan to actually get right, 

which I do not think is palatable.   

 10 

 So can I just suggest on the next version we reinstitute archaic English.   

 

MS DAWSON:   That is in all the rules, the “shall” has been taken out, “is” or 

“will” been added in. 

 15 

MS REEVES:   Yes, and the ODPs? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well I suppose - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, because they are effectively rules? 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   They are effectively rules.  What we also found was, 

actually the job had not been completed on this chapter either, there 

were “shall” used in the polices, and they would be changed in the 

assessment matters.  But in any event, that has to fit in with drafting, 25 

which already uses shall.  So sorry, but - - - 

 

  [10.20 am] 

 

MS……….:   Change the rule back then. 30 

 

MR LAING:   Just note to do that, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so moving on, to 8.3.2.1 C(6), we are on to the 

rules now, 2.1 – 8.1.2.8.3 – is it 8.3 – 8.3.2.1 C(6) – now Ms McIntyre,  35 

this comes back to you, and just let us know if there is anything that 

could be just table with Mr Collins or - - -  

 

MS MCINTYRE:   This, really I just had a question as to, with integration of 

the matters, whether there was actually a need to distinguish C6 from 40 

C5 and whether those two rules could be integrated together and I have 

suggested how that might be done, but I think that is just something for 

the Council to think about. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, all right, thank you.  Ms Oliver and Mr Collins will 45 

get that. 
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 And there is another matter, I think Ms Dawson - - -  

 

MR COLLINS:   Can I please just check, happy to look at integrating those 

two but I just noted you sought deletion of C and is, I am not sure if 5 

that – is that, I mean it has got applicability outside the zone obviously? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Ms McIntyre for the Crown – the reason that I have done 

that, is in, in terms of integrating them, it seemed a little bit pointless to 

specify, you know some but not all of the activity standards up the top 10 

if the revised rule was to apply to subdivision in any zone, then 

separating out, you know activity standards 8.3.3.1 to 8.3.9 and 8.3.12 

and then a slightly different version for the new neighbourhood zone 

and then the specific for the industrial thing, seem to me to be 

unnecessary and that - - -  15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well Ms Dawson, will have a perspective on the wider 

drafting as well. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I suppose my concern is that both the words – number “C” 20 

that you have suggested to delete – they are already in a decision of the 

Panel and it does not relate to the RNN zone, so it cannot form part of 

our RNN zone decision, so it needs to be a correction and go through 

the process of making it a “correction” to a decision we have already 

made, and I think perhaps you just need to think about whether that is 25 

necessary or not at this stage? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   And certainly I do not think this is a necessary change, it 

was a - - -  

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thanks, Ms McIntyre. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   - - - a suggestion for consideration, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   We are aware of that, thank you. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms McIntyre - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - and Ms Dawson, so – all right, so the next to open - - 45 

-  
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MS DAWSON:   But just in relation to that same C6 in my comment, I just 

was interested whether it was a deliberate drafting decision to exclude 

the matters of discretion in – they are written as matters of discretion in 

8.5.10 which is the specific suite of matters that were developed for the 5 

new neighbourhood zones, and now are not brought over as matters of 

control for the purposes of putting conditions on controlled activity 

subdivisions within the RNN zone. 

 

 So now that the baseline subdivision category, activity category for 10 

subdivision in the RNN zones is controlled, one might expect that most 

of the subdivision may well happen under that controlled activity, but 

the particular matters of discretion that were developed when the 

activity status was RDA, have not been brought into the controlled 

activity. 15 

 

 Now I know there are other matters in the general matters of discretion 

that apply throughout the subdivision rules that sort of touch on similar 

matters, but it just – I mean I think you need to consider if it is a 

deliberate decision to exclude all those matters other than where there 20 

is a noncompliance. 

 

MR COLLINS:   Andrew Collins – look, thanks for pointing that out because it 

was not a deliberate move, and I am wondering if it will be sufficient to 

amend 8.4.4.1 which is the matters of control on subdivision design, 25 

whether I could perhaps add in an extra clause just referring to all those 

matters rather than perhaps duplicating them all again. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Judge Hassan here – just one thing I would intervene 

there, I do not know whether it is relevant, but at stage 1 decision the 30 

Panel had to do quite a bit of work in ensuring that matters of control 

were properly expressed as matters of control rather than actually in 

nature being matters of discretion. 

 

  [10.25 am] 35 

 

 So I suppose I would just express a word of caution as to whether it is 

just a cross-reference, or whether in fact it might be a case of going 

through all of those matters of discretion and recalibrate it to be 

expressed as a control matter. 40 

 

 Ms Dawson, is there any thought on that? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, that is – you would certainly want to review the way the 

matters are expressed in 8.5.10 to make sure they were able to be 45 
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applied as matters of control for the purpose of imposing conditions.  

But that that is a possibility that you could do it that way. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   And as long as it is very clear under the controlled activities 

that you are importing, these matters for either looking at as matters of 

control for a controlled activity, but they would also be matters of 

discretion once it came to RD. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, so it is just a case of making sure when the process is 

done, to bear in mind it has to work as the Act requires, as a matter of 

control, and it may well be it can be done simply. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So RD – sorry, just C7 I think is the next one, now this is 

Ms McIntyre again on this – just guide us on this one. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Ms McIntyre, this is just a confusion I think in the 

structuring of the rule and it is because subdivision generally is covered 25 

in the other controlled activity rules and this relates to subdivision 

within these areas but it – because it is separated out, then it is not clear 

how it relates to the general C6 provision. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And you have suggested a drafting approach to clarify it. 30 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes I have.  What I have suggested there is really that that 

another activity specific standard for C6, or C5 if they are combined, be 

added related to provision of a cultural assessment and that clearly ties 

that in with the general subdivision and general consideration matters 35 

of control. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, so Ms Oliver and Mr Collins will no doubt think 

about that thoughtfully. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, well I looked at that and thought, “Well, it would clearly 

need to be two controlled activity applications in that area” – and if it 

can is, in a way along the lines that Ms McIntyre suggested, additional 

matter of a standard and matter of discretion is brought in for those 

within the Awatea tangata whenua layer, then that is a way around that, 45 

because otherwise it was a bit unclear. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  So any other comment – I think we are going 

to restricted discretionary and the first one of those is RD2, now just 

any comments from the Crown on this, just Ms Dawson? 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   My question is just so that in a drafting sense, the Council’s 

turned its mind to the fact that these two non-compliances, residential 

net site in C and consistency with the ODP have been move from being 

full discretionary, to being a restricted discretionary, and that the 

Council’s turned its mind to whether the matters of discretion, for the 10 

purposes of declining consent for subdivision on those matters are 

adequate and sufficiently targeted, because that was the basis that 

Council I think as I recall agreed that it would be appropriate to change 

from full discretionary to RD for those two matters. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And is your senses from reading it, that possibly they are 

not or that it is just a plea to make sure that that is properly assessed? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Just a plea because there is this – I mean there is one set of 

assessment matters that are particular to compliance with Outline 20 

Development Plans – yes, just a plea to make sure you have looked at it 

carefully - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   - - - because I have not had the steam to do that myself. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And these are the sort of things that – Judge Hassan again 

– unless that work is done, what happens is the Panel uncovers an issue 

when it comes to its deliberations and it has to try find a solution and 30 

puts quite a bit of pressure on the relevant Panel members. 

 

  [10.30 am] 

 

MR LAING:   Duncan Laing here – Is that clear? 35 

 

MR COLLINS:   I certainly understand the issue and I will have a closer look 

at what we have got here and respond. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, so on RD 7 which is the next one, we have got three 40 

sets of comments and starting, I think, with Ms Harte. 

 

MS HARTE:   I am a relative newbie with these provisions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So, Ms Harte, just to remind us, the outlined development 45 

plan in the area involving poultry nearby. 
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MS HARTE:   Right, I am confused about what the Council to do in terms of 

control in that buffer area, because they have got RD 7 which – there 

are matters that we need to discuss about how that works – but there is 

also a setback in the narrative which refers to subdivision and 5 

development and refers to another rule. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So, where is that narrative of the reference - - - 

 

MS HARTE:   South Masham. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   It is in the ODP, 8.6.5. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, I have a comment on both of those as well. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, this is where I find it hard to find it. 

 

MS HARTE:   So I think there needs to be clarity, assuming control is needed, 20 

whether it is needed for subdivision or subdivision and activities or just 

activities. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:    So this is the Yaldhurst outlined development plan? 

 25 

MS HARTE:   No. 

 

MS DAWSON:   South Masham. 

 

MS HARTE:   The plans are at the end of each section right at the beginning. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And the narrative you refer to is in clause 8 of the 

attachment. 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   ODP. 

 

MS HARTE:   So clause 8 of the narrative refers to subdivision and 

development being controlled, I mean managed, where we have also 40 

got an RD 7 which is a subdivision control.  That is the first problem. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:    So, Ms Oliver, do you understand the questions being 

posed? 

 45 
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MS OLIVER:  I think so.  So, to clarify the Council’s intent was that primarily 

a residential unit or residential activity which are the building would 

have to be set back 200 metres so that is the intended outcome. 

 

MS HARTE:   But that is - - - 5 

 

MS OLIVER:   So I will just clarify so within the odour buffer area that within 

200 metres of the poultry farm buildings that any residential activity 

would have to be set back 200 metres.  That, therefore, gave rise to if 

you will not set back, what would you become within that odour buffer 10 

area which is 200 metres. 

 

MS HARTE:   Which pretty much covers the whole area, right? 

 

MS OLIVER:   So, it doesn’t, if you look in the Revised Outlined 15 

Development Plan you would see.  That was addressed in the hearing 

and we will leave that matter. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:    That is a matter for closing. 

 20 

MS OLIVER:   That is right so just going to how attempting to make a rule 

work was within that 200 metres it would be a restricted discretionary 

activity. 

 

 So the first approach was is to identify an odour buffer area and make 25 

subdivision and development of the land and it is only concerning 

residential development, is to be set back 200 metres or within there a 

restricted discretionary activity so that is the intent or that is outcome 

being sought and to be fair, the way RD 7 is now written, it may imply 

that any subdivision – so you may be subdividing four hectares off 30 

there or something and it is only really subdivision that we are trying to 

target in accordance with the residential development so that, I accept, 

is not clear. 

 

 And really what we are just trying to target is that subdivision 35 

associated with residential development and residential activities within 

the odour buffer areas of restricted discretionary activity and that is 

with the matters refined to odour.  So that is the intent of the rule. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So just pause and first of all premise this, Ms Harte, as – 40 

Judge Hassan – to say obviously on matters that remain in contention, 

those will be matters for the Panel to make calls on arising from 

submissions, including closings. 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes, I understand that. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   But just with that rider with the comment, if the 

acknowledgement, Ms Oliver, on that is, given that intention the 

drafting is unclear on that and appears to go further in terms of 

capturing subdivisions that may not be the subject of what the Council 

thinks should be for attention. 5 

 

  [10.35 am] 

 

 There are two things: one is, what are the assessment matters for 

restricted discretionary, which I think Ms Dawson raises as well; and I 10 

suppose the second question is whether in fact the category of 

subdivision can be made more explicit?  I am not sure, Mr Laing, 

whether in fact it could be or not but whether it is subdivisions that do 

not have provision for consent notice or other provision to ensure 

buildings, whatever, I am not sure.  It does not express a view of the 15 

Panel’s part at all. 

 

MR LAING:   No, we can look at that, but I think the drafting is going to get 

very convoluted if we take that, Mr Collins, in some - - - 

 20 

MR COLLINS:   The comment there was, “I've only made a very small change 

in 8.4.4.1,” in terms of the subdivision design, clause G, you will see 

some extra blue text, 8.4.4.1 G.  There was already a clause in there 

regarding reverse sensitivity in relation to strategic infrastructure and 

so on. 25 

 

 I added that in as a solution to try and address this conundrum relating 

to south Masham and that obviously it is a Greenfield priority area.  dis 

zoned for and by having this RD rule and the links to that matter of 

control I just thought it might enable consideration of suitable 30 

conditions so that was the approach I took. 

 

MS OLIVER:   Yes, alternatively, we just write something to limit it to effects 

arising from odour, something along those lines in terms of a matter of 

discretion.  So, under RD 7 within the odour buffer area restricted 35 

discretionary matters of discretion do not refer to rule 8.4.4 and just 

write it out as being a detailed – so it would read “to the extent to 

which the subdivision and associated residential use mitigates any 

adverse effects or addresses reduced sensitivity effects” or something 

to that extent. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Without expressing a view again I just want to alert the 

parties to the fact that in the – I am not sure if this is relevant or not but 

in the context of the Lyttelton Port noise sensitivity issues we have an 

activity class which is triggered as being more benign and consentable 45 

in circumstances where the applicant volunteers a consent notice 
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condition which effectively, in that case, relates to the land use itself 

and effectively says this land use will be of a certain type and in that 

sense addresses the reverse sensitivity issue. 

 

 Now, I do not know whether that is a solution and I do not express a 5 

view on the merits of the competing views which we will have to come 

to in due course.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   On purely just drafting matters, going to have a separate 

standalone RD 7 for subdivision in these areas, the matters of discretion 10 

for the purpose of imposing conditions have to continue to cover all the 

normal subdivision matters that would normally be covered and I note 

that in the yellow highlighted text where you point to the amendment 

you have made to 8.4.4.1 G; 8.4.4 is only referred to as a matter of 

discretion for imposing conditions.  If you look to the matters specified 15 

for RD 2, they are all other matters.  So if this concern only relates to 

imposing conditions, then it does not need to be an RD? 

 

MS HARTE:   That is right. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   So, it is a choice the Council needs to make as to how you are 

going to treat that. 

 

MS OLIVER:   That was a substantive matter that was discussed at the hearing 

and it comes down to whether the Council needs to be in a position to 25 

decline an application if they cannot mitigate, address the matter so that 

was - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   So, I accept that is a substantive matter but in a drafting sense 

if you are going to want to turn something down on mitigation of odour 30 

it needs to be in the right-hand column, not the left-hand column, not 

the second to right hand column that is all I am saying. 

 

  [10.40 am] 

 35 

 You cannot have the matter 8.4.4 only being in the column related to 

conditions, that is the drafting issue.  And then my other question, 

which comes up later, which is how is the ODP provision to be 

implemented, that has been clarified now, thank you. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Harte - - - 

 

MS HARTE:   But to me it is still an issue because you have got - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just state your name, thanks. 45 
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MS HARTE:  Sorry, you have got the RD7 controlling subdivision and you 

have got your setback controlling subdivision and development.  And 

they are two different and I don’t know how it is going to end up but I 

mean that seems to me untidy.  There should I think logically more 

they should, if you are going to put subdivision into the subdivision 5 

section, you should put a control on the land use in the land use section. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, but there is no control in the land use section, is that 

correct, there is the CERA legislation (ph 1.06)?  

 10 

MS OLIVER:   Yes – Sarah Oliver – the way it was tackled in the land use 

section was under building setbacks 14, built form standards 14.9.3.5, 

page 36.  So 7, so that was always there in the revised proposal, the 

previous revised proposal.  So it is “Additional setbacks are required 

from specified internal boundaries in the Prestons outline development 15 

plan and south Masham outline development plans areas”. 

 

MS HARTE:   So why is it in the narrative then? 

 

MS OLIVER:   Because - - - 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Harte, just remember to say your name first. 

 

MS OLIVER:   This comes back to when we looked at all the outline 

development plans and a number of them in particular, I see there is 25 

another typo there, a number of them particularly Prestons and then 

South Masham emerged, where it had quite extensive setback 

requirements and it was a drafting decision to include them in the 

narrative as an additional section and, as Ms Dawson has indicated, 

which acts as rules in the particular outline development plan.  So 30 

Prestons, when you read it, has a number of them.   

 

 So I think Highfield did too but we just have to check that.  And South 

Masham equally it was just a – other than the alternative was is to list 

all the site specific setbacks into what is now 14.9.3.5 so we chose not 35 

to do that and then we just reference you and in an e-plan it will be easy 

because it will just immediately link you to that additional setback 

requirement in the narrative. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Oliver. 40 

 

 All right, it may be that further matters will just have to be matters for 

closing submissions I wonder, Ms Harte, once the Council has reflected 

on the various observations on drafting they will no doubt reflect on 

whether they can improve anything, so at that point it may just be the 45 

differences that parties positions express and we will deal with those. 
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 All right, so now the next item I think is it 8.3.2.3, discretionary 

activities.  So there are no discretionary activities. 

 

MS McINTYRE:   The matter that I have raised there is really just the matter 5 

that Ms Dawson raised earlier about the change from if the non-

compliances are changing to restricted discretionary activity then I 

think there is a need for a matter for discretion in relation to non-

compliance with the residential net density standard. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So, Mr Collins, you agree with that? 

 

MR COLLINS:   Correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 15 

 

MR COLLINS:   I will make the changes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Noted that.  All right, so we will go to the next issue, so 

we are going to push on our way through here, so is it the activity 20 

standards now. 

 

MS McINTYRE:   I have just got a comment on the non-complying activity.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  So non-complying activity, Ms McIntyre that is 25 

8.3.2.4.1? 

 

MS McINTYRE:   Yes, I think this is probably just a drafting error.  The non-

complying activity relates to subdivision that doesn’t comply with the 

minimum net site area requirements. 30 

 

  [10.45 am] 

 

 Now, because of the way that the new neighbourhood provisions are 

referred to in 8.3.3.1 that therefore sort of follows through to requiring 35 

making any subdivision that doesn’t comply with the minimum net site 

area requirement non-complying which, if that is what is intended then 

it is a substantive change, and my guess is that it is just a drafting error 

that could be addressed by excluding the Residential New 

Neighbourhood zone from the activity description in the same way as 40 

the Medium Density zone is currently. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It is very helpful that you have got your drafting for all 

these points by the way, thank you for that.  Mr Collins, any comment 

on that? 45 
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MR COLLINS:   I believe I agree. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sorry, if you would just speak to the microphone there. 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes, looking at the suggestion tabled by Ms McIntyre, I 5 

agree, I think if it was not meeting not meeting the site standards in 

8.3.3.11 my expectation is that it is not the non-complying activity rule 

that is triggered so I am happy with that change. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Now, we will go to the 8.3.3.1 minimum net 10 

area and dimension topic and this is another drafting matter you have 

suggested here, Ms McIntyre. 

 

MS McINTYRE:   This is actually related to the same matter I have just 

discussed. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I thought so. 

 

MS McINTYRE:   And actually the matter that I have just discussed could be 

addressed by deleting E, I don’t think it is necessary there because 20 

8.3.3.11 already applies anyway. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Could you just look very carefully if you are going to delete 25 

that because I think 8.3.3.1 forms a substantive rule albeit that for the 

RNN zones it then links to 8.3.3.11 because 8.3.3.11 isn’t written in 

quite the same way.  I am sorry I haven’t got my head around all the 

intricacies but for example in 8.3.3.2, which is a matter I was 

concerned about, 8.3.3.1 is exempt for allotments with existing or 30 

proposed buildings.  If you are going to delete RNN from 8.3.3.1 you 

then need to add it in to 8.3.3.2.  So 8.3.3.1 is woven through the rules 

and just deleting it like that could have unintended consequences. 

 

MS McINTYRE:   Yes, I did check that, I think it is okay but it would be worth 35 

checking further. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I think so. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And just while I am talking on the same matter, I mean my 40 

concern was because there are quite a lot of the subdivision provisions 

in the RNN zone relate to allotments with existing or proposed 

buildings, particularly through the comprehensive approach, that could 

be seen to be the same approach as is covered in 8.3.3.2.  And just to 

make sure that the way the rules are structured going back forth 45 

between 8.3.3.1, 8.3.3.2 and 8.3.3.11 there is no unintended 



 Page 42 

  

New Neighbourhood Zones Technical Drafting Session  Commenced 18.02.16 

inconsistencies and I particularly picked it up in relation to subdivision 

and allotments with existing or proposed buildings.  And it may be just 

you need to put some more exemptions in or cross-references, it is a 

little bit of a drafting jungle. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  So if we go to 8.3.3.11 and again just be 

selective about which things need to be discussed which can be tabled 

for the Council to consider.  There is various points made by the Crown 

here. 

 10 

  [10.50 am] 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   The points that – Sandra McIntyre for the Crown – the 

point that I have made on 8.3.3.11 is purely just a suggestion for clarity 

of drafting for the Council to consider. 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   I have a couple of small points in my drafting notes which I 

will just leave for you to read. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   One, I have not tabled – Judge Hassan here – but I have 20 

notes on, just to flag for you, paragraph C, land area for subdivision, I 

wonder if somebody could just double check the drafting consistency 

issue here, and it may be intended but we have got different 

expressions. 

 25 

 In (i) we have got “not associated with comprehensive residential”.  In 

(ii) we have got “is for a comprehensive residential”, so “associated 

with”, “is for”, slight difference.  And the third one in subdivision is, 

“is to give effect to”, whether that language just needs to be tuned.   

 30 

 I have looked at the definition of comprehensive residential 

development and understand its intention is to be primarily about the 

number of residential units but then to allow it to also extend to 

associated subdivision so I have kind of got that, but just to make sure 

that that all ties together cleanly. 35 

 

MR WILLIS:   Just one point, Judge – Gerard Willis – on (b)(v) A the critical 

point of this provision, which is about land nominated for higher 

density being included as part of the subdivision, and I was unclear in 

my mind whether that drafting was suggesting it needed to be part of 40 

the subdivision application of course it says, not the subdivision, so the 

application, so that means it is submitted as part of a mitigation 

measure, not necessarily part of a subdivision plan to create allotments.  

Is that what we are saying?  There seems to be two possibilities in 

terms of the interpretation of that provision, if you follow me. 45 
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MR COLLINS:   Yes, the intention is that it has to be part of a subdivision 

application so that it becomes within the scope of the consent authority 

to impose a consent notice.  That ability is not there unless it is part of 

the application. 

 5 

MR WILLIS:   So it becomes shown on the scheme plan allotments, if you 

like, this higher density.  That is what you are trying to say, that is what 

you are intending it to say? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Laing might want to think about that last observation. 10 

 

MR LAING:   (INDISTINCT 2.35) Just trying to get to that.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I mean, I suppose in a theoretical sense I wonder out loud 

whether if an applicant volunteers a restriction on land outside the 15 

subdivision whether it can be enforced.  I am not sure if that is 

necessary. 

 

MR LAING:   I think, Judge, that does raise some quite difficult issues about 

scope so certainly the intention was that the applicant would have to 20 

include all the land and it was up to the applicant how they managed 

that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 25 

MR LAING:   But once all the land is included then there is obviously scope 

for a consent notice that relates to that land. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, yes I see. 

 30 

MR LAING:   So that was the intention.  If it has not come through clearly 

enough we could look at that again. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  No, thank you, that is helpful to know the intention, 

thank you.   35 

 

MR LAING:   Mr Collins. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right so just moving on.  We are still lagging 

significantly behind.  It is now getting on towards 10.55; my proposal 40 

will be we should extend this through, if the parties are available, until 

11.30, that would still allow the Secretariat time to clear the room, so 

we can just carry on – 8.4.4.1? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Sandra McIntyre for the Crown – the matters that I have 45 

identified in 8.4.4.1 are really just matters for the Council to consider. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you.  I think in all of those matters just 

parties please communicate with each other on these issues if need be 

and they can just be matters to assist Mr Collins and Ms Oliver as they 

come up with the next person.  So Ms Dawson, are there any issues 5 

from Ms Dawson’s list at this point? 

 

MS DAWSON:  No, the rest of my questions were to do with the ODPs 

themselves. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay, we will come to those shortly.  Now the next 

one I think is 14 – so we are now into the residential provisions, finally, 

we are doing well.  14.9.2.1, is that the first one? 

 

  [10.55 am] 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   I have got a policy one on 14.1.5.1 - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sorry, yes, thank you.  So on page 9, on that page 9 of 

those provisions. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   From Ms Dawson – It may be that Ms Oliver has covered this 

already in an answer to another question. 

 

 My question was why was there not a need for the general outline plan 25 

policy in the residential section as well as in the subdivision when both 

land use and subdivision are covered by ODPs, but perhaps your 

answer to the fact that chapter 8 covers subdivision development and 

earthworks was the intention, I mean perhaps I think as one of the other 

comments was, it may be worth having a cross-reference in here, 30 

people who are doing a residential development may well not be 

attuned to looking at chapter 8 if they were not subdividing, but 

because there are a lot of land use related matters in those ODPs. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So the heading could be retained and then below that a 35 

cross reference that triggered you straight into the relevant policy. 

 

MS DAWSON:   That is just a suggestion; I have not thought that through at 

all so just to think about – Sarah Dawson. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, all right so the next matter. 

 

MS OLIVER:   Just a comment, sorry it is a question for Andrew Collins - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Oliver. 45 
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MS OLIVER:   - - - Ms Oliver, sorry, point A where it says land use activities 

and sorry this is page 9 of attachment C, it has got land use activities 

and developments in the residential new neighbourhood zone are 

consistent with the policies contained in section 8.1.4. 

 5 

MR COLLINS:   So let us put a line through all that option B stuff, because I 

think we made a decision earlier on that we are not doing option B.  So 

at the time this was prepared - - - 

 

MS OLIVER:   I see. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR COLLINS:   - - - yes, so - - -  

 15 

MS DAWSON:   Those two go. 

 

MR COLLINS:   - - - those two go, okay, we are only dealing with the 

objective as written. 

 20 

MS OLLIVER:   Yes.  So at the suggestion of Ms Dawson about relating 

people back to that chapter, so that one in A, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Just for the ODP, sorry. 

 25 

MS OLLIVER:   Yes, okay. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right. 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   So it is just under 14.1.5.1 – sorry, Ms Dawson speaking 

here, 14.1.5.1 part of the outline development policy has been deleted 

but two parts, A and B, have been kept, but I know those policies are 

also in the subdivision chapter, just to make sure that someone who 35 

looks at chapter 14 is fully aware of the full extent of the policies 

relating to ODPs. 

 

MS OLLIVER:   Yes. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   All right. 

 

MR COLLINS:   Mr Collins, just responding, yes that clause A is really all 

about the preparation of the ODPs and what has got to be required in 

the ODPs and is included there in chapter 8 along with the ODPs 45 

themselves, whereas the subsequent clauses which are here in 14 are 
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now A and B, that is all about the subsequent development that gives 

effect to the ODP.  So that was why I deleted A. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I understand that. 

 5 

MR COLLINS:   Okay. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, Ms McIntyre, you had a suggestion on policy 10 

14.1.1.1 back on page 2 and 3. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes, that is just the decision on proposal 14, it includes a 

table which describes each of the zones and there is a gap for the 

Residential New Neighbourhood Zone that needs to be filled there. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you, the next one I think, still on your list, 

at 14.1.5.3, page 10. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes, I just wondered whether there was a need to repeat 20 

policy 8.1.2.8 as policy 14.1.5.3 or if instead of doing that it could be 

cross referenced into the density policy that is already existing in 

14.1.1.1.  That is just for consideration. 

 

  [11.00 am] 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Any view on behalf of the Council at this point? –

Judge Hassan. 

 

MR COLLINS:   Look, if you do not mind I will just have to reflect on it.   30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Collins. 

 

MR COLLINS:   Andrew Collins – If you do not mind I will just reflect on 

these, which is quite a lot of content and it is an important matter. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, yes, thank you.  Now, 14.1.5.6 - - - 

 

MS McINTYRE:   Sandra McIntyre for the Crown – I do not believe that needs 

any discussion, it is just checking for consistency of wording. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you.  Now, working to the rules, Judge Hassan 

again, the rules for this chapter.  The first one we might have listed is 

P19.   

 45 

MS DAWSON:   Well, just actually - - - 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - the second P19. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It is the second one. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Second P19 which comes after P29. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   I mean I have written my comments out here. 

 

 I have a couple of comments.  I was wondering whether the drafting 

style for P19 could not be similar to the drafting style that has now 15 

been adopted for P30, which may be would make the rule less 

complicated, in that would be other words written as; “all permitted 

activities in the commercial local zone within an area identified as a 

local centre on an approved subdivision plan” – something like that. 

 20 

 But the complication with that is the word “local centre” is actually 

defined, and it is defined as an area that is zoned.  And this rule is to 

apply to “local centres” that are not zoned. 

 

 So I do not think you can use the term “local centre” in P19, which is 25 

why I have suggested maybe the areas on the ODPs need to be 

identified as something else, other than “local centre”.  Just, I do not 

know, something “local retail” area or something little like that.   

 

MS OLIVER:   Sarah Oliver -  In discussion with Mark Stevenson, the “local 30 

centres”, because their definition only refers to areas zoned and yet a 

local centre defined by the permitted activities actually gives you the 

broad range of activities that are anticipated in a “local centre”. 

 

 Which is why I decided to use the term “local centre”, it is - - - 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is there always a colour on the ODP for that markation? -  

Judge Hassan – why could it not just be areas marked pink or whatever 

it is? 

 40 

MS REEVES:   Janet Reeves – on the ODPs only the local centres that are 

zoned are shown.  The other local centres, the other potential 

commercial centre are not shown at all. 

  

MS OLIVER:   Yes, and Jason Jones and I have been in discussions but 45 

unfortunately we could not resolve the matter, was on the is local 
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centre issue, with Prestons, because they have not finalised the exact 

location, so in a way it is designed – so just going back to the intent of 

this is to try and provide in outline development plan areas almost a 

floating zone, so that they can apply it anywhere they like, and they 

decide where they best apply, where it is best located at the time of 5 

subdivision. 

 

 And then do not need a land use consent provided they meet the local 

centre conditions.  So maybe it is in the name, maybe I would not 

restrict it to retail because local retail, the intention in the permitted 10 

activities for a local centre provides for a broader range of activities.  

So whether it is a local community area or something, maybe it is. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I mean maybe you need to suggest - - - 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - sorry, Ms Dawson – to the definition of “local centre”.  

The only difficulty with that is that local centre is very much tied in 

with the commercial hierarchy and it is in a table in the decision about 20 

the hierarchy, so. 

 

MS OLIVER:   And that was not an issue.  When I discussed it with Mark 

Stevenson we had no issue the fact that these, if they were to be, the 

intention is they will be zoned.  One; as soon as they decide where they 25 

want to have them they will zone them out. 

 

 So we thought practically about it, was it a major barrier to us adopting 

this rule, we did not think so, we thought it would sort itself out over 

time. 30 

 

  [11.05 am] 

 

MS DAWSON:   It may well.   

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you.   

 

MS McINTYRE:   Ms McIntyre for the Crown – sorry, I just have another 

point to add to that. 

 40 

 I have identified, I am sorry, this is written in handwriting on my list, 

because I only came across it this morning, but I have essentially raised 

the same point with the same solution as Ms Dawson, with the 

exception that it seems to me that there should be no need to specify the 

gross floor area in the standard, that that should be identified in the 45 

ODP or on the subdivision consent. 
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MS OLIVER:   Sarah Oliver.  This is going back again, to my discussions with 

Mark Stevenson, that all the local centres zoned are in a way defined by 

their gross floor area, that is why they are a local centre.  Which is why 

given the difficulty with the definition of local centre, which would 5 

have been easier had it actually been broader, nonetheless, that is why I 

had to go to adding in an activity specific.  So it is a little complicated. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Well I think there is enough discussion of that 

to identify the need to clarify.  P30 is the next one, and I think 10 

Ms Dawson and Ms McIntyre raised similar points on this?   

 

MS DAWSON:   We will just leave it at that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Can that just be noted for people to address? 15 

 

 P31, show homes; now, Ms Dawson’s question on that you will see 

noted. 

 

MS DAWSON:   It was just a scope matter to make sure that in trying to make 20 

the activities consistent with the stage 1 decisions that there has not 

been an unintended scope-creep or an unworkable scope-creep or, that 

is just a note. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is that point understood Ms Oliver?  Does it need further 25 

discussion? 

 

MS OLIVER:   No.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, okay thank you. 30 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes, I would think we would work our way through that one. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, the next one is in the controlled activity pass, and I 

think it might be retirement villages I think?  And there are a couple of 35 

clarifications suggested by Ms McIntyre in her right hand column? 

 

MS McINTYRE:   Ms McIntyre for the Crown – the matter I have raised here 

is I believe essentially the same as Ms Dawson’s matter on RD6, in that 

because there is nothing in these controlled activities, C1 and C2 40 

specifying the need for compliance with built form standards, but those 

noncompliance with those built form standards is referred to in the 

restricted discretionary activity.  There is a bit of confusion there and I 

have suggested a possible way of clarifying that, it may not be the best 

way.   45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   And I see there is a similar point you raise in the next part 

of the table? 

 

MS McINTYRE:   Yes.   

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So that is all part of the same. 

 

MS McINTYRE:   In fact I think the matter really arises in relation to the three 

controlled activities that are identified.   

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, is that understood (INDISTINCT 3.53)?  Thank 

you Mr Collins? 

 

MR COLLINS:   With the suggested change. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you.  All right, so I think - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   Can I just, on exactly this, a similar point.  I think with RD6 

it just needs to be clear where - - - 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson, on page 27. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - sorry, Ms Dawson – beg your pardon, page 27, needs to 

be clear whether RD6 is the only restricted discretionary that applies to 

comprehensive residential developments that do not comply with the 25 

built form standards, and I guess as Ms McIntyre has raised the same 

matter might relate with RD4, whereas there are lots of other restricted 

discretionary about buildings that do not comply with the daylight 

recession plane or the height or et cetera, and it may be that it is 

intended that there are multiple restricted discretionaries apply, in other 30 

words if a retirement village, or a comprehensive residential 

development did not comply with the daylight recession plane it will be 

considered under RD6 against the comprehensive residential 

development, and is of discretion, and also under RD8, under the 

impacts on neighbouring property.  And that is a technique that has 35 

been used in other zones to make sure that adequate matters of 

assessment are imported for the relevant matters that the built forms 

standard – where there is a noncompliance of the built form standards, 

but you just need to know which one you want. 

 40 

  [11.10 am] 

 

 In other words, do the comprehensive residential development 

assessment matters, cover all the matters that will be needed to be 

considered for noncompliance with all the built form standards, 45 

whether you need to also have the other ones - - -  
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MR……….:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - in which case you have got it. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, and I think, I think we are going back a little bit 

here to another point, if you do not mind – I have got a note from Mr 

Langman that 14.9.2.2C3 on the table might have overlooked that – it 

is controlled activity again, had it been covered? 

 10 

 Ms McIntyre, back to you on this one, and I think it is probably similar 

to the points you have raised before in regard to clarity with Mr Collins 

is noted. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes it is, it is essentially the same point. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. All right, so we will now move onto RD6. 

 

MS DAWSON:   We have covered that. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We have covered that. Now RD25 - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   RD11. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   RD11. 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   From Ms McIntyre. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 30 

MS MCINTYRE:   The points that I have identified on RD11, RD13 and RD22 

are essentially just correction of errors. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, all right. So, Mr Collins, if you would note that. 

 35 

MR COLLINS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now we go to - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   Similarly my – I have a matter about - - -  40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - Ms Dawson. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Ms Dawson, have – that there does not appear to be a 

restricted discretionary for noncompliance or the activities specific 45 
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standards for P19, the local centres, but I could have overlooked that so 

I will just leave that - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So if you could just - - -  

 5 

MS DAWSON:   - - - for comment. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, just to note that please, Mr Collins, and RD25, just 

go to that one. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   It may be that – sorry, this is, Ms Dawson – it may be that 

that is a matter more of substance, and that is really the note in yellow 

about whether the indoor noise installation matter is included. I note 

that there has been a correction - - -  

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - because as we had of thought, it did apply to the 50 dBA 

areas, and it may be that that is just a matter for the Council to elect on 

again. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. And the RPS applies differently, does it not, to new 

neighbourhood zones from established residential areas as our first 

decision is covered. 

 25 

MR COLLINS:   May I ask, Andrew Collins, just to help me here, I mean I – 

the evidence that I was referring was not something that I read or heard, 

I was not part of that hearing, but it was really whether the Panel had 

been “persuaded” if you like, by Mr Day’s (ph 3.21) evidence, if the 

normal building materials will ensure compliance, if you were 30 

persuaded then we may be do not need B, but if you were not 

persuaded we can include B just to be consistent. 

 

 I mean, I really do not have a preference - - -  

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Are you referring to Mr Day’s evidence in the first 

decisions? 

 

MS DAWSON:   It was right back in - - -  

 40 

MR COLLINS:   Probably, yes - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR COLLINS:   - - - it is way back, was it not? 45 
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MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well I suppose for the moment our findings, we cannot 

revisit our findings on the evidence, but if there are any things which – 

any matters that arise from those findings and the evidence that relates 5 

to them I suppose that the Council thought it needed us to understand 

for this purpose, then it is for the Council to let us know, but you 

probably cannot go much further than that, we have got to be - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   No, we got to - - -  10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - a little bit - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - careful. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - careful about that. 

 

 So D2 is the next one is it? 

 

MS DAWSON:   So the rest of my matters, D2, D3 – sorry, Ms Dawson here – 20 

D4, they and we have talked about the draft, so they are all just notes 

for you to just – just little things that is all - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   - - - do not worry about those – I mean, worry about them, 

but not now. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now built form standards I think we move to next. 

 30 

MS MCINTYRE:   Just before we move to built form standards – Sandra 

McIntyre for the Crown – just note that D5, there is an apparent 

inconsistency between D5 and the restricted discretionary approach 

now being used for noncompliance with ODPs in the subdivision 

chapter, I do not know whether that is intentional or not, so I will just 35 

flag it. 

 

  [11.15 am] 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes, thank you. I will consider that one. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Any comments on that Ms Dawson at this stage, I do not 

think - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   No. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, all right. So, Mr Collins, yes, if you could do that 

and as I say confer with Ms McIntyre if there is any need for clarity. 

 

MR COLLINS:   Yes. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The built form standards and there were comments from 

you, Ms Dawson, but perhaps if we start with the Crown, 14.9.3.1, Ms 

McIntyre. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   The matters that I have identified in 14.9.3.1, 9.3.2 and 10 

9.3.3 I think – I have numbered that wrong – are essentially again just a 

question as to whether the standards would be made clearer if they 

were formatted in the same way as they are in the other zones, in the 

form of a table. 

 15 

MR……….:Yes, I will - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   Whatever one has time to do. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, Ms Dawson thought that was funny, simply in view 20 

of all of the work that we have on our plate, if we can achieve – if you 

can help us achieve an outcome that is clearer, well and good. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:  Ms McIntyre, I have suggested a table for 14.9.3.1, I ran out 

of time to suggest them for the other standards but I am happy to help 25 

the Council do that if who would like me to. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I think that is probably the gist of it, if there is some value 

in this approach and not dismissing it that there is not, it is just a 

question of what we can achieve as a Panel without the parties 30 

assistance so if the parties wish to push this along it would probably 

need to be as complete as possible to say that ask and bearing in mind 

“perfection” is not really achievable, but - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   And, Ms Dawson here, I agree that some of these very long 35 

narrative standards are less clear to read than the tabled versions in the 

other chapters, but as Judge John said, it is a matter of what one can 

achieve in the time and the other thing is, every time you change 

something you have to be careful not to have unintended consequences 

and that is a downside of fiddling around at the last minute. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, that is right. All right, so thank you. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Whatever you can manage. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, we would welcome your assistance but do not 

underestimate it, at the task. 

 

 Now building height, is that the next issue? 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, this was – Ms Dawson – oh - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We got, we got a – first of all we just get - - -  

 

MR COLLINS:   The Crown’s finished. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The Crown’s finished on those? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Mm’hm. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay, sorry, sorry Ms Dawson, back to you. 

 

MS DAWSON:   This was a matter - Ms Dawson – that related to a comment 

around drafting, comments that are tabled previously, where I think a 

suggestion was made about adding a date at which the subdivision is 20 

considered to be approved, that is for these ones in Prestons, Wigram 

and Yaldhurst that come up in like C and D where it says “approve 

subdivision consent”, and I had not intended that that meant that all the 

individual dates of the individual consents. It was just like a date, I 

think the date at which this plan becomes operative. 25 

 

 Unless it was intended that there be provision for more specific heights 

to be included by way of this rule when future subdivision consents are 

approved, and may be if you could just look at how they covered that in 

8.3.3.11B(3) because they have added just the words in brackets “date” 30 

– “operative date” I think in that rule. 

 

 So that is all I meant, because if you leave it floating as approved, it 

could capture things that are approved in the future. 

 35 

MS OLIVER:   Yes, so just noting first, this is only Prestons, Wigram and 

Yaldhurst, and Yaldhurst have their approve subdivision consent, so 

yes we could in that instance make it from the operative date of the 

plan. Wigram similarly is almost fully consented. Prestons is not fully 

consented and so they – the intention was to almost allow them to have 40 

future consents, so they were the exception. 

 

 I can ask Mr Jones in – that is why I was leaving it suitably vague there 

I suppose, or flexible, flexible. 

 45 
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MS DAWSON:   So my question was really what the intention was, and if the 

intention is that it be flexible then there should not be a date included, 

and may be if you just check what has been done in subdivision rules 

because there’s a place holder for a date there and may be that need to 

be taken out, but I understand, thank you for clarifying that. 5 

 

  [11.20 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just a point for the transcript, I note that first discussion of 

the Yaldhurst Outline Development Plan at this point, at this point 10 

Mr Stokes is no longer with us.  I am not sure if he is returning to the 

room or not but the transcript also records my earlier explanation as to 

the closing submission process. 

 

 So, now the next issue is 14.9.3.2. 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   Again, just a minor matter but it is in B and C which are the 

Site Coverage and just the use of the word “lots” in those two 

standards, in a Land Use Standard, because the word “lot” is defined in 

the same way as “allotment” and it designed quite specifically whereas 20 

the word “site” is defined more broadly which would be more 

applicable in a land use context so at the end of the first lines of B and 

C where the word “lot” pops in there. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  All right, at the start of the page, I think, now 25 

- - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   Oh, that is just - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   There are some - - - 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   I will leave the first matter. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, and I see the Crown, Ms McIntyre, got a little note on 

14.9.3.2 as well. 35 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Again, this just about - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Oh, it is all covered, I understand.  No, that is helpful, 

thank you.  Page 36 is the next point. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   On page 36 there is a note to the Panel.  That really is a 

matter of substance which the Council will need to just elect, the way, 

just address that, I think. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   I agree with that, Ms Dawson.  Yes, Ms Dawson has just 

explained it.  It is a matter of substance on which we will just need to 

hear the Council’s position and obviously in due course other parties if 

need be and make our call.   

 5 

 14.9.3.16. 

 

MS DAWSON:  Again, this is just a wording matter.  It is to do with 

consistency with the Outline Development Plan.  I mean, the Council 

may have particular reasons for wording things in particular ways but I 10 

just note that the Industrial and Commercial chapters in the rule require 

in accordance with an ODP and it is just a matter of whether you wish 

to use those consistent words but – or you may wish to elect to use 

something different and then I just note from Ms McIntyre’s comment 

on D5 that D5, which is the flipside of that rule, it says “do not comply 15 

with the rule”.  I guess that is right, that is correct.  So, anyway, just be 

careful about, be mindful of what wording is used in relation to 

accordance and compliance with an ODP. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, with the indulgence of the parties, I have got a few 20 

points.  I have not been as organised as Ms Dawson on a list.  It will 

not take long to go through.  If we quickly flick back to page 23 and 

this just purely a stylistic point just to note it so it is there for you to 

pick up.  I am being picky you might find. 

 25 

 You will see in C, Mr Collins says, “It starts with, in all cases, of a 

building being moved or lifted,” and then it flips around to “lift or 

move” so just to tidy that up, just make it consistent, please. 

 

 The next point is on page 16 again.  It is just an elegance of drafting 30 

point, overly fussy, perhaps.   P2 on 16, paragraph D, the Roman 

numerals, I guess it is a question of parallel construction but it reads, 

“this total space can be provided as” and it says “a) a single continuous 

area or b) - - - 

 35 

MR COLLINS:   I am sorry, sir, can I just check where we are again? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  On page 16, 14.9.2, Mr Collins.  You might just be able to 

just tidy the drafting here a little bit.  In D, (i) and (ii), if you just look 

at the question of parallel construction you will see the introductory 40 

words are “this total space can be provided as”.  That works with one 

or perhaps provided as it drops down to (i). 

 

MS DAWSON:   Just be alert that some of these may be identical wording to 

our decision. 45 
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  [11.25 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, we will have a look at that as well. 

 

MR COLLINS:   So, if that is the case do you want me to still suggest the 5 

change? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  No. The transcript does not pick up laughter but I 

understand why Ms Dawson is laughing. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   Sorry about the poor drafting.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Anyway, page 40, perhaps more substantive. You changed 

“types” from “typologies” in the heading and you have done it in E but 

you have not done it in K, so just look at that. 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   There are numerous other typologies scattered through the 

place. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So it may be that stick to “typology” rather than stick to 20 

“type”.  It is just a minor thing. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Was that Mr Willis, maybe that was his comment. 

 

MR WILLIS:   It was one of the comments earlier. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thanks for bearing on with me on that and I 

think that is all I have got to say. 

 

MS REEVES:   I just wanted to say something about the types.  We made a 30 

specific distinction between “types” and “typologies” so that is 

supposed to be “typologies” and not “types”. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thanks, Ms Reeves.  You will see when you look 

at it.  There is just a question of internal consistency at that point and I 35 

understand it and if there is a deliberate intention to use two different 

words you will be able to pick it up at the time. 

 

 All right, thank you, so now we are back to the ODPs, I think. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:  I have already talked about the amendments to the titles so 

that is just something that will need to be picked up in due course if 

necessary for the titles of the other development plans and then that 

goes with my second comment about the definition of the 

Outline Development Plan.  Just need to be careful that whenever the 45 

word “Outline Development Plan” is used it ties in with the definition. 
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MS OLIVER:  To clarify, Mr Thompson’s evidence was not to have a 

definition of Outline Development Plan and then it was decided it 

would be deferred until this hearing. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   Okay, I was just looking at the last version that came from 

the Council which cross-refers to – I will look back at his evidence 

then, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, there is a matter on Yaldhurst and Wigram, 10 

you have put a note there. 

 

MS DAWSON:   One of the comments that we put into the drafting memo 

related to a comment regarding the density requirements being 

identified in the granted subdivision consents. 15 

 

 In the Wigram ODP there is a statement that says something like a 

density variation, I cannot remember what it says, but it refers to – it is 

under the Development Requirements and it says “residential density 

types are defined on the Outline Development Plan map or on an 20 

approved subdivision consent plan” and I was just wondering whether 

something like that should not be put into the Yaldhurst one as well just 

so that when – it just ties the ODP to the density rules.  That was all I 

was intending, nothing more than that in the Yaldhurst one. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Now, the next one on electricity distribution lines if I 

could just flag the fact that I noted before.  We have a note on behalf of 

the Riccarton Racecourse submitter group that they will be dealing with 

matters in closing but that, perhaps, opens up the question asked by 

Ms Dawson around this matter bearing in mind this is a technical 30 

drafting discussion and obviously in due course we will have to reflect 

on the merits of different parties’ cases but I suppose just an invitation 

to the Council to comment on that if you wish as to whether or not this 

has been discussed with landowners.   

 35 

  [11.30 am] 

 

MS REEVES:   Janet Reeve – no, it has not been discussed, but there is a 

rationale for what we changed - - - 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And that will be dealt with in your submissions, I just 

want to do a substitute so you did not have to cover the rationale now 

but just to bear in mind that there may be some live issues for closing 

on these matters which the Panel will have to make calls on. 

 45 

 So South Masham, is that a similar point? 
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MS DAWSON:   Similarly there was said to be a substantive matter coming in 

there, just a matter - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right and the last point. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   The last one, I think we have covered that now when we 

discussed Ms Harte’s point about how the setbacks provisions are to be 

implemented and perhaps there is supposed to be a residential rule. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well I just record that we have now concluded 

the discussion of technical points in regard to the ODP, Mr Stokes did 

not return to the room on this matter, but in due course he will 

obviously with other parties, have opportunity for his submission. 

 15 

 And just to round things out, is there any other points that anyone 

wanted to raise before we just adjourn and - - - 

 

MR COLLINS:   Andrew Collins – I am just unfamiliar, what would be the 

process I would adopt, so I can phone Sandra without any problem at 20 

all just off the record, but if we wanted to invoke a discussion with 

Ms Dawson - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, we will leave with you, leave application is – leave 

would be granted on short notice to any request for a chambers 25 

discussion with Ms Dawson on matters that do not give rise to any 

issues of contention with other parties but are purely technical drafting 

questions that do not give rise to that difficulty.  That allows me to 

allow for that on the basis that it does not give rise to procedural 

prejudice to anyone, if that is okay. 30 

 

 And as I indicated, Ms Dawson – busy though she is – Is happy to work 

with that on a flexible basis within reason, obviously.  So my request 

would be to perhaps – four hours’ notice or something would be 

probably sufficient for us to schedule a time.   35 

 

MR COLLINS:   Sir, I recall something in the minute about the next version 

was going to be circulated by tomorrow.  I think we have identified 

quite a few matters here. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I will now vacate that direction and subject to any 

comment you want to make, Ms Limmer, on directions, I propose to 

direct now that simply in the memorandum that you lodge on Thursday, 

if you could propose an alternative timetable and just on the basis of a 

sequential process that would allow for sufficient time for Mr Collins 45 

and Ms Oliver to confer through issues, allows a generous time for that 
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as a first step following which there will be a generous timetable for 

closing from any parties and finally closing for the Council. 

 

MR LAING:   Thank you, your Honour, I will certainly do that, that is 

understood. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, all right.  Well on that basis thank you everyone for 

taking the trouble, as again, to emphasise the appreciation we do have 

for the significant work that has been done to improve this document so 

far by all concerned. 10 

 

 This hearing is adjourned again pending further directions. 

 

MATTER ADJOURNED AT 11.33 AM ACCORDINGLY 


